S261247

S_____

In The Supreme Court of the State of California

LYNN GRANDE Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

EISENHOWER MEDICAL CENTER

Defendant and Appellant,

FLEXCARE, LLC *Intervener*.

On Review from the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two 4th Civil No. E068730 and E068751

After an Appeal from the Superior Court of Riverside County Honorable Hon. Sharon J. Waters, Judge Case Number RIC1514281

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP

Richard J. Simmons, Cal. Bar No. 72666 rsimmons@sheppardmullin.com 333 South Hope Street, 43rd Floor Los Angeles, California 90071-1422 Tel: 213.620.1780 SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Eisenhower Medical Center (Eisenhower) presents the following question for review:

In a joint employer arrangement, can a class of workers bring a lawsuit against a staffing company, settle that lawsuit on a classwide basis for substantial consideration, and then bring identical claims against the only company where they had been placed to work?

WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

The Court of Appeal in *Castillo v. Glenair, Inc.* (2018) 23
Cal.App.5th 262 (*Castillo*) answered that question "no." The Court of Appeal in this matter, *Grande v. Eisenhower Medical Center* (2020) 44
Cal.App.5th 1147, 258 Cal.Rptr.3d 324 (*Grande*) answered the same question on identical relevant facts "yes." The dissent in *Grande* recognized that the majority opinion creates a clear split in authority that will cause confusion for "parties on all sides" going forward. Further, it will create incentives to litigate the same claims multiple times in different courts. Because this petition raises an important issue as to which there is a conflict in the intermediate appellate courts, review should be granted.

The issue presented involves the fundamental relationship between a temporary staffing company FlexCare, LLC (FlexCare), its employee Lynn Grande, and its client company (Eisenhower). Grande was employed by FlexCare for just nine days, during which FlexCare assigned Grande exclusively to Eisenhower to work seven shifts. Eisenhower was authorized to and did review and report Grande's time records to FlexCare so that FlexCare could pay Grande.

Prior to this case, Grande filed a class action against FlexCare that resulted in a final, court-approved settlement agreement. (*Erlandsen, et al.*

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -6-

v. FlexCare, LLC, et al. (Super. Ct. Santa Barbara County (2013) No. 1309595 (Erlandsen).) The Erlandsen settlement agreement contains a broad release barring settlement class members from asserting wage and hour claims against FlexCare and its agents, such as those alleged here. Grande was also a class representative in Erlandsen and received a \$20,000 enhancement as a class representative in addition to settlement amounts paid to her as a class member based solely on her assignment at Eisenhower. Grande did not work for any other entity other than Eisenhower through FlexCare.

Despite settling all her wage and hour claims with FlexCare, and after receiving her settlement payments in *Erlandsen*, Grande filed suit separately against Eisenhower. Grande's claims against Eisenhower involve precisely the same wage and hour claims, for the same work, covering the same period as the claims she settled against FlexCare. After a short bifurcated trial addressing Eisenhower's affirmative defenses and FlexCare's complaint in intervention, the trial court issued a statement of decision in favor of Grande.

FlexCare appealed and Eisenhower petitioned the Court of Appeal for a writ of mandate. The Court of Appeal (Fourth District, Division 3) consolidated both for decision. After initial briefing, a different Court of Appeal (Second District, Division 2) decided *Castillo* on identical facts in favor of the staffing company who employed the worker and its client. The Court of Appeal's tentative decision in *Grande* followed *Castillo*, but the majority reversed course in its final decision, rejecting the *Castillo* reasoning and holding.

The dissent in *Grande* succinctly frames the issues, stating that "on facts essentially identical to those here," *Castillo* held "that a settlement agreement between a staffing company and its employees barred those employees from asserting the same claims against the staffing company's

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -7-

client. Specifically, it held that the client was the staffing company's agent, and therefore within the scope of the release that the employees had given. [Citation.] It also held, alternatively, that the staffing company and the client were in privity for purposes of res judicata." (*Grande*, *supra*, 258 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 340 (Rameriz, P.J., Dissenting).) The dissent concluded: "I would follow *Castillo*, as a matter of stare decisis. *Castillo* at least has the virtue of stating clear rules on which parties on all sides can easily rely going forward. I do not find *Castillo* to be so plainly wrong as to justify creating a split of authority in this area." (*Ibid.*)

Review should be granted to resolve this clear split in authority between *Castillo* and *Grande* that impacts an important industry in California: temporary staffing companies and their clients. This Court's decision is necessary to secure uniformity of decision on this important question of law. (See Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 8.500(b)(1).)

BACKGROUND

A. Eisenhower's Relationship With FlexCare

Eisenhower and FlexCare have a long-running, cooperative business relationship. (See 2 PA 420 ¶¶3, 8.) In 2007, Eisenhower and FlexCare executed a Supplemental Staffing Agreement (Staffing Agreement), pursuant to which FlexCare selected and assigned its employees to perform work at Eisenhower under Eisenhower's direction. (2 PA 420-421 ¶¶3 and 11; 3 PA 595:20-596:17; 4 PA 898-910.) Eisenhower relied on FlexCare to assign competent, professional, and licensed health care workers consistent with Eisenhower's licensing and certification requirements. (3 PA 595:20-596:17, 637:9-638:5; 4 PA 898-903.) FlexCare was legally and contractually responsible to comply with all laws, including the obligation to fulfill its and Eisenhower's wage-hour obligations to all assigned employees. (3 PA 640:6-11; 4 PA 901 ¶5.2, 989-990.)

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -8-

As set forth in the Staffing Agreement, Eisenhower paid a specific rate to FlexCare for each category of supplemental personnel. (4 PA 904 ¶7.1.1; 4 PA 909.) These rates were independent of and distinct from the pay rates FlexCare separately negotiated with its employees. (See 4 PA 904 ¶7.1.1, 909, 989-990.) The Staffing Agreement provides that FlexCare was the employer of all FlexCare employees who received assignments to perform work at Eisenhower. (4 PA 901 ¶¶5.1, 5.2.) Grande also agreed to look to FlexCare for payment of her wages as her employer. (See 4 PA 989-990.) As between FlexCare, Eisenhower, and FlexCare employees like Grande, FlexCare was responsible for fulfilling Eisenhower's obligations for compliance with and satisfaction of all payroll, wage-hour, overtime pay, premium pay, workers' compensation, and benefit obligations. (3 PA 597:3-15, 605:24-606:14, 640:6-11; 4 PA 901 ¶¶5.1, 5.2, 989-990.) As a result, the parties also agreed that FlexCare would indemnify Eisenhower "against any and all" legal claims asserted against Eisenhower that are predicated on any allegation that FlexCare employees are jointly or otherwise employed by FlexCare and Eisenhower. (2 PA 425 ¶44, 430-431; 4 PA 901 ¶5.3.)

B. FlexCare Assigned Grande to Work at Eisenhower

In February 2012, FlexCare assigned its employee Grande, an RN, to work in the Intensive Care Unit at Eisenhower on a temporary basis. (2 PA 420 ¶8; 4 PA 989-990, 1053:26-1054:4; 5 PA 1352:12-14.) Grande worked seven shifts at Eisenhower between February 6 and February 14, 2012, when her assignment ended. (4 PA 1054:16-22; 2 PA 420-421 ¶¶8 and 10.) Grande did not receive any other assignments from FlexCare and worked only at Eisenhower. (2 PA 421 ¶¶9-10; 5 PA 1352:12-14; 6 PA 1409:17-22.)

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -9-

C. Grande Joined a Class Action Lawsuit Against FlexCare as a Named Plaintiff, Based Entirely on Her Work at Eisenhower, and the Lawsuit Settled

In 2012, Christina Erlandsen, a FlexCare employee, filed the *Erlandsen* action. (2 PA 421 ¶12; 5 PA 1084-1120.) A year later, Grande joined as a named plaintiff. (2 PA 421 ¶14.) In the third amended complaint, Grande asserted claims for (1) failure to pay compensation due for hours worked; (2) failure to pay meal period wages; (3) failure to pay rest period wages; (4) failure to pay waiting time wages; and (5) violation of Business and Professions Code section 17203. (4 PA 848-873.) All of Grande's claims in *Erlandsen* were predicated solely on her seven-day assignment at Eisenhower, and Grande was represented by the same attorneys who represent her in the present action. (1 PA 17; 2 PA 421 ¶¶15-16, 849 ¶6 [complaint specifically alleged that Grande "was assigned to work at Eisenhower"], 848-873.)

On January 28, 2014, the *Erlandsen* class action settled. (2 PA 421 ¶19, 21; 4 PA 917-950.) The Stipulation and Settlement Agreement released

[A]ny and all claims, causes of action, debts, liabilities, demands, obligations, guarantees or damages, in law or equity, tort or in contract, by statute, pursuant to case law, or otherwise, which have been or could have reasonably been asserted in the Action or in any other state or federal court, administrative tribunal, or in arbitration or similar proceeding, based upon, or arising out of, or related to the allegations in the Action during the Class Period.

(4 PA 921 ¶FF.) These claims were released against the "Released Parties," a broadly defined term that included FlexCare and the other named defendants, as well as their "related or affiliated companies," and "agents, principals." (4 PA 921 ¶GG.) It did not exclude Eisenhower from its broad definition of Released Parties and all parties plainly understood

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -10-

Grande's claims arose solely from her brief engagement at Eisenhower. (*Id.*)

The Santa Barbara County Superior Court entered its Amended Final Judgment and Order in *Erlandsen* on April 8, 2015, approving the Stipulation and Settlement Agreement and finding it "fair, adequate and reasonable." (2 PA 423 ¶27; 4 PA 911-916.) The Amended Final Judgment and Order further stated that it "shall have a *res judicata* effect and bar Class Members from bringing any action asserting Released Claims as that term is defined in the Agreement;" this effect was not limited to the Released Parties. (4 PA 915 ¶19.) In the settlement, Grande received \$20,000 for her role as a class representative, \$162.13 to resolve her individual claims related solely to her seven-shift assignment at Eisenhower, and \$300,000 in fees to her counsel. (2 PA 421 ¶¶10 and 15, 423 ¶28; 4 PA 914 ¶¶13 and 15, 915 ¶18; 6 PA 1397:6-19, 1398:18-1399:5, 1400:15-24.) FlexCare paid these sums, knowing it was obligated to indemnify Eisenhower for any wage-hour claims Grande could or might pursue against Eisenhower if they were unresolved by the settlement.

D. Grande Filed This Proposed Class Action Lawsuit Against Eisenhower, and the Trial Court Ruled Against Eisenhower and FlexCare; the Court of Appeal Affirmed

On December 3, 2015, less than two months after FlexCare satisfied the final judgment in *Erlandsen* and Grande accepted the payments, Grande filed this lawsuit against Eisenhower based only on her assignment at Eisenhower through FlexCare. (1 PA 17-32; 2 PA 357-367, 425 ¶43; 3 PA 613:20-28.) Grande contends that Eisenhower violated Business and Professions Code section 17200, *et seq.*, by failing to pay her for all hours worked and by failing to pay meal period and rest break premiums. (1 PA 17-32.) These are the same claims she made in *Erlandsen* based entirely on

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -11-

the same seven days of work at Eisenhower. (4 PA 848-873; 1 PA 19 \P 6; 2 PA 421 \P 15; 4 PA 849 \P 6.)

The trial court granted FlexCare's motion for leave to intervene. (1 PA 51-55.) FlexCare's complaint in intervention, like Eisenhower's affirmative defenses, alleged that Grande was barred by the preclusive effect of the class action settlement agreement and judgment in *Erlandsen*. (1 PA 50 ¶23.) Thereafter, the trial court granted Eisenhower's motion for a bifurcated trial as to its waiver/release and res judicata affirmative defenses and FlexCare's motion for a bifurcated trial as to its complaint in intervention. (1 PA 61-64.) After conducting a brief trial, the trial court ruled against FlexCare and Eisenhower, and issued its statement of decision. (7 PA 1664-1690.)

As expressed in the statement of decision, the trial court concluded that Grande's claims are not barred by res judicata as a result of the *Erlandsen* judgment. (7 PA 1671:9-1674:6.) The trial court concluded that the controlling issue was whether FlexCare and Eisenhower were in privity, and that they were not in privity because they were jointly and severally liable and their liability was not derivative. (7 PA 1671:9-1674:6.) The trial court also concluded that Grande's claims are not barred by the settlement agreement in *Erlandsen* because Eisenhower was not a "Released Party" within the meaning of the settlement agreement as it was not FlexCare's agent. (7 PA 1674:23-1683:4.)

The trial court entered judgment against FlexCare, and FlexCare appealed. (7 PA 1747-1754; 7 PA 1761-1763.) Because the bifurcated trial as to Eisenhower was only as to its affirmative defenses, Eisenhower had no immediate right of appeal. However, at Eisenhower's request, the trial court certified its statement of decision as appropriate for writ review (Code Civ. Proc., § 166.1) and Eisenhower filed a petition for writ of mandate. After consolidating the appeal with the writ proceeding, the Court of

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -12-

Appeal affirmed the judgment as to FlexCare and denied Eisenhower's petition. (*Grande*, *supra*, 258 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 327.) Choosing not to follow *Castillo*, the Court of Appeal held "Eisenhower and FlexCare were not in privity, preventing Eisenhower from blocking Grande's claims under the doctrine of res judicata, and Eisenhower was not a released party under the settlement agreement." (*Ibid.*)

REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO SETTLE IMPORTANT QUESTIONS OF LAW AND RESOLVE CONFLICTING APPELLATE COURT DECISIONS

A. Contrary to the Decision in *Grande*, *Castillo* Held a Staffing Company and Its Client Company Are in Privity and Agents of Each Other Regarding Wage and Hour Claims

While briefing was underway in the writ proceeding and appeal in this case, the Second District Court of Appeal issued its decision in *Castillo*, addressing the identical issue raised by this petition for review. In fact, the issue presented for review above is taken almost verbatim from *Castillo*. (See *Castillo*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 266.)

The material facts in *Castillo* are virtually identical to those here. Like here, in *Castillo* a wage and hour class action lawsuit was filed against a temporary staffing company, GCA Services Group, Inc. (the *Gomez* class action). (*Ibid.*) The plaintiffs were employed and paid by GCA to work on site at Glenair, Inc. They characterized GCA and Glenair as "joint employers." (*Ibid.*) The *Gomez* class action against the staffing company GCA settled and the court approved the settlement agreement. Like in this case, the settlement agreement from the *Gomez* class action contained "a broad release barring settlement class members from asserting wage and hour claims . . . against GCA and its agents." (*Id.* at pp. 266-267.)

Nonetheless, a new class action lawsuit was filed (*Castillo*) against Glenair, involving "the same wage and hour claims, for the same work done,

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -13-

covering the same time period as the claims" asserted against the staffing company and settled and released in *Gomez*. (*Id.* at p. 267.) The trial court in *Castillo* entered summary judgment in favor of Glenair based on res judicata and separately because it found Glenair was the agent of GCA for wage and hour purposes and thus released by the *Gomez* settlement. (*Id.* at p. 281.) The Court of Appeal affirmed. (*Ibid.*)

1. The *Castillo* Court's analysis of res judicata applies equally here

As to the elements of res judicata, the *Castillo* court found the *Gomez* settlement was final and on the merits, and also that the causes of action before it were the same as those at issue in *Gomez*. (See *id*. at pp. 276-278, citing *Villacres v. ABM Industries, Inc.* (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 562, 577 [stating the elements of res judicata].) Thus, the Court found, "[t]he dispute then centers on the third and final element of res judicata, namely whether the undisputed material facts demonstrate Glenair was either a party or in privity with a party in *Gomez*." (*Id*. at pp. 278-279.) The Court concluded Glenair was in privity with GCA with respect to the subject matter of the litigation. (*Id*. at p. 279.)

In addressing privity, the Court quoted from this Court's opinion in *DKN Holdings LLC v. Faerber* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 813, 826 (*DKN Holdings*):

"As applied to questions of preclusion, privity requires the sharing of 'an identity or community of interest,' with 'adequate representation' of that interest in the first suit, and circumstances such that the non-party 'should reasonably have expected to be bound' by the first suit. [Citation.] A nonparty alleged to be in privity must have an interest so similar to the party's interest that the party acted as the nonparty's '" 'virtual representative' "' in the first action."

(Castillo, supra, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 277.)

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -14-

Thus, the *Castillo* Court reasoned, "for purposes of privity, ' " '[t]he emphasis is not on a concept of identity of parties, but on the practical situation. The question is whether the non-party is sufficiently close to the original case to afford application of the principle of preclusion.' " ' " (*Ibid.*, citing *Alvarez v. May Dept. Stores Co.* (2005) 143 Cal.App.4th 1223, 1236-1237.) Quoting from *Cal Sierra Development, Inc. v. George Reed, Inc.* (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 663, 674 (*Cal Sierra*), decided after *DKN Holdings*, the *Castillo* Court concluded: "Put another way, privity, ' "as used in the context of res judicata or collateral estoppel, does not embrace relationships between persons or entities, but rather it deals with a person's relationship *to the subject matter of the litigation.*" ' " (*Castillo, supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 277.)

Applying this law to the facts, the *Castillo* Court looked to the analysis in *Cal Sierra* for determining the necessary relationship between the parties and the subject matter of the litigation in order to establish privity. (Id. at p. 279.) In Cal Sierra, Cal Sierra first obtained an arbitration award against a mining company and then tried to sue the mining company's licensee based on the same facts and the same or similar causes of action as raised in the arbitration. (Cal Sierra, supra, 14 Cal.App.5th at p. 668.) The Court of Appeal in *Cal Sierra* explained that although the mining company and its licensee were separate companies and only in a contractual licensor-licensee relationship, they could still be in privity for claim preclusion purposes. (*Id.* at p. 673.) It was enough that the "subject matter of the litigation . . . was the same as that at the center of the arbitration dispute: the placement of the asphalt plant and whether it infringed on Cal Sierra's mining rights." (*Id.* at p. 674, italics added.) The Court found the mining company and its licensee "had an identical interest" as to that issue and were "adversely and similarly impacted by [it]. (Ibid.; see also *Castillo*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 279 [relying on *Cal Sierra*].)

SMRH:4839-4573-9445 -15-

Thus, the Court found privity existed and res judicata applied. (*Cal Sierra*, *supra*, 14 Cal.App.5th at p. 674; see also *Castillo*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 279.)

Applying the same reasoning as the Court in *Cal Sierra*, the *Castillo* Court concluded that Glenair was in privity with GCA with respect to the subject matter of the litigation. (Castillo, supra, 23 Cal.App.5th at pp. 279-281.) The Court found (1) "both cases involve the same wage and hour causes of action arising from the same work performed by the same GCA employees . . . at GCA's client company Glenair"; (2) both "Glenair and GCA share the same relationship to the Castillos' claims" because both "were involved in and responsible for payment of the Castillos' wages"; and (3) "by virtue of the 'Gomez' settlement, the Castillos were compensated for any errors made in the payment of their wages." (Id. at p. 280.) The Castillo Court held: "Thus, with respect to the Castillos" wage and hour causes of action, the interests of Glenair and GCA are so intertwined as to put Glenair and GCA in the same relationship to the litigation here. Accordingly, we conclude they are in privity for purposes of the instant litigation." (*Ibid.*) Because they were in privity, res judicata applied. (*Id.* at p. 281.)

Castillo is on all fours with this case, as the dissent in the Court of Appeal makes clear. The facts in this case cannot be distinguished from the

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