Case No. S261247

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Lynn Grande, Plaintiff and Respondent, vs.

Eisenhower Medical Center,

FlexCare LLC.

Defendant and Appellant,

Intervenor.

On Review from the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two 4th Civil Nos. E068730 and E068751

After an Appeal from the Superior Court of Riverside County Honorable Hon. Sharon J. Waters, Judge, Case Number RIC1514281

PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT LYNN GRANDE'S ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW BY EISENHOWER MEDICAL CENTER AND FLEXCARE, LLC

PETER R. DION-KINDEM (95267)
PETER R. DION-KINDEM, P.C.
2945 Townsgate Road, Suite 200
Westlake Village, CA 91361
Telephone: (818) 883-4900

I. INTRODUCTION

The Petitions for Review of Eisenhower Medical Center ("EMC") and FlexCare, LLC ("FlexCare") should be denied. Plaintiff contended below that EMC and FlexCare were joint employers and that each were jointly and severally liable for the failure to pay her wages owing to her and the class members. The Court of Appeal held that there was no "privity" between EMC and FlexCare for res judicata purposes, even though FlexCare had settled Plaintiff's claims in a separate lawsuit, that would preclude Plaintiff from pursuing EMC for its liability as a Plaintiff's joint employer under California law. In doing so, the Court of Appeal properly interpreted this Court's holding in *DKN Holdings LLC v. Faerber* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 813 [189 Cal.Rptr.3d 809, 352 P.3d 378] ("*DKN Holdings*"), in which this Court expressly held that "joint and several obligors are not considered to be in privity for purposes of issue or claim preclusion." (Id. at 826.)

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision in *Castillo v. Glenair*, *Inc.* (2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 262 [232 Cal.Rptr.3d 844], *as modified on denial of reh'g (May 14, 2018), review denied (Aug. 8, 2018) (Castillo)* is a legally and logically unsupported aberration that expressly conflicts with the California Supreme Court's decision in *DKN Holdings* and other appellate authority. Moreover, *Castillo* court's "agency" standard is directly contrary to controlling California Supreme Court and other intermediate appellate court precedent, all of which hold that the hallmark of an agency relationship is the right of control by the principal over the purported agent's activities and the right of the agent to bind the principal as to third parties.

No review is necessary in this case. Rather, this Court should simply de-publish *Castillo* and allow the Court of Appeal's decision in this case to stand.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE PROPERLY HELD THAT PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS AGAINST EMC ARE NOT BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF *RES JUDICATA*.

One of the key requirements for the application of the doctrine of *res judicata* was that the subsequent action involve the "same parties or parties in privity with them." (*Mycogen Corp. v. Monsanto Co.* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 888, 896–97 [123 Cal.Rptr.2d 432, 51 P.3d 297].) Here, it is undisputed that EMC was *not* named as a party in the Santa Barbara Action. Thus, to prove that *res judicata* operated to bar Plaintiff from suing EMC, a nonparty, FlexCare and EMC were required to prove that EMC was "in privity" with FlexCare.

In Bernhard v. Bank of America Nat. Trust & Savings Ass'n (1942) 19 Cal.2d 807 [122 P.2d 892], Justice Traynor stated:

"... A privy is one who, after rendition of the judgment, has acquired an interest in the subject matter affected by the judgment through or under one of the parties, as by inheritance, succession, or purchase. [Citations.]" (*Id.* at p. 811, [122 P.2d 892].) (Emphasis added.)

Here, there was no evidence that EMC was a "privy" under the California Supreme Court's definition.

A. Because FlexCare and EMC were alleged to be joint employers and, therefore, jointly and severally liable to Plaintiff, they were not in privity with each other under this Court's holding in *DKN Holdings LLC v. Faerber*.

In *DKN Holdings LLC v. Faerber* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 813, 823–25 [189 Cal.Rptr.3d 809, 818–19, 352 P.3d 378, 386–87], *reh'g denied (Aug. 12, 2015)* (*DKN Holdings*), this Court expressly held that where two defendants were jointly and severally liable to a plaintiff, there was no "privity" for purposes of the doctrine of *res judicata*.

In *DNK Holdings*, three individual lessees signed a commercial lease agreement, to which each agreed to have "joint and separate responsibility

to comply with the lease terms." (*Id.* at 818 (quotation marks omitted).) They later stopped paying rent, contending that the landlord had failed to disclose problems with the property. (*Id.*) One of the lessees sued the landlord, who counterclaimed seeking unpaid rent and other amounts due on the lease. (*Id.*) Judgment was entered in favor of the landlord for \$2.8 million. (*Id.* at 819.) When the single lessee did not pay in full, the landlord sued the other two individuals who had signed the lease. (*Id.*)

The trial court and the Court of Appeal held that the second suit was barred by claim preclusion, but the California Supreme Court reversed. (*Id.*) It held that the relationship between the lessees was not so close as to consider them the "same" party or in privity with one another. (*Id.* at 826.)

Addressing the privity issue, this Court enunciated the basis test as follows: "As applied to questions of preclusion, privity requires the sharing of 'an identity or community of interest,' with 'adequate representation' of that interest in the first suit, and circumstances such that the nonparty 'should reasonably have expected to be bound' by the first suit. [Citation.] A nonparty alleged to be in privity must have an interest so similar to the party's interest that the party acted as the nonparty's '" 'virtual representative' "' in the first action." (*DKN*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 826, 189 Cal.Rptr.3d 809, 352 P.3d 378.)

This Court held that it was irrelevant that a plaintiff's two lawsuits involved the same primary right or involved the same subject matter of the litigation:

As discussed, claim preclusion applies only to the relitigation of the same cause of action *between the same parties* or those in privity with them. (*Teitelbaum Furs, supra,* 58 Cal.2d at p. 604, 25 Cal.Rptr. 559, 375 P.2d 439; *Rice v. Crow* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 725, 734, 97 Cal.Rptr.2d 110.) Whether DKN's two lawsuits involve the same primary right is beside the point. (See *Rice,* at p. 736, 97 Cal.Rptr.2d 110.) Claim preclusion does not bar DKN

from suing Faerber because Faerber is not "the same party" who defended the cause of action in the first suit, nor was he in privity with Caputo based on their business partnership or cosigner status. (See Dillard v. McKnight (1949) 34 Cal.2d 209, 214, 209 P.2d 387 [business partners are not in privity for purposes of preclusion].)

This conclusion is entirely consistent with the settled rule that joint and several obligors may be sued in separate actions. (See *Williams II, supra*, 48 Cal.2d at p. 66, 307 P.2d 353.) Claim preclusion does not bar subsequent suits against co-obligors if they were not parties to the original litigation. In this context, a party "is one who is 'directly interested in the subject matter, and had a right to make defense, or to control the proceeding, and to appeal from the judgment." "*Bernhard v. Bank of America, supra*, 19 Cal.2d at p. 811, 122 P.2d 892.) Faerber has never contended that he and the other lessees should be considered the same party.

Nor does joint and several liability put co-obligors in privity with each other. As applied to questions of preclusion, privity requires the sharing of "an identity or community of interest," with "adequate representation" of that interest in the first suit, and circumstances such that the nonparty "should reasonably have expected to be bound" by the first suit. (Clemmer v. Hartford Insurance Co. (1978) 22 Cal.3d 865, 875, 151 Cal.Rptr. 285, 587 P.2d 1098.) A nonparty alleged to be in privity must have an interest so similar to the party's interest that the party acted as the nonparty's "'" virtual representative" '" in the first action. (Gottlieb v. Kest (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 110, 150, 46 Cal.Rptr.3d 7.) Joint and several liability alone does not create such a closely aligned interest between co-obligors. The liability of each joint and several obligor is separate and independent, not vicarious or derivative. (See id. at p. 154, 46 Cal.Rptr.3d 7, citing Tavery v. U.S. (10th Cir.1990) 897 F.2d 1032, 1033.) Thus, joint and several obligors are not considered to be in privity for purposes of issue or claim preclusion. (Gottlieb, at p. 154, 46 Cal.Rptr.3d 7.) (*Id.* at 823–25 (emphasis added).)

This Court went on to explain that joint and several liability is to be distinguished from derivative liability where claim preclusion may be applied:

When a defendant's liability *is entirely derived* from that of a party in an earlier action, claim preclusion bars the second action

because the second defendant stands in privity with the earlier one. [Citations omitted.] The nature of derivative liability so closely aligns the separate defendants' interests that they are treated as identical parties. [Citation omitted.] Derivative liability supporting preclusion has been found between a corporation and its employees (*Sartor v. Superior Court* (1982) 136 Cal.App.3d 322, 328 [187 Cal.Rptr. 247]; Lippert, at p. 382), a general contractor and subcontractors (*Thibodeau v. Crum* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 749, 757 [6 Cal.Rptr.2d 27]), an association of securities dealers and member agents (*Brinton*, at pp. 557-558), and among alleged coconspirators (*Richard B. LeVine, Inc.*, at p. 579). (DKN, *supra*, at 827-828.)

Because EMC was alleged to be a joint employer with FlexCare and they are therefore joint and several obligors, they are not "in privity" for purposes of claim preclusion. As this Court in *DKN Holdings* expressly held: "joint and several obligors are not considered to be in privity for purposes of issue or claim preclusion. (*Id.*, at 820).)

In *Gottlieb v. Kest* (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 110, 154 [46 Cal.Rptr.3d 7, 38], the court rejected an identical contention by the defendant in that case. In *McCray-Key v. Sutter Health Sacramento Sierra Region* (E.D. Cal., Nov. 2, 2015, 2:15-CV-1514-JAM-CKD) 2015 WL 6703585, at *2-3, the district court, in an essentially identical fact-pattern to this case, applied *DKN Holdings* and held that a subsequent suit by an employee against the hospital where she had been assigned to work by a staffing company was not barred by *res judicata* when the employee settled her action against the staffing company and dismissed the action with prejudice.

Here, Grande was not attempting to hold EMC *derivatively* liable for FlexCare's violation of the Labor Code. Indeed, the liability of one employer is necessarily not "derivative" of a joint employer's liability. Rather, existing state and federal case law supports the view that joint employer liability is joint and several, with each employer having a separate and independent duty to comply with the Labor Code. As such, the

situation is analogous to that of co-obligors under a contract discussed in *DKN Holdings*.

In *Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35 [109 Cal.Rptr.3d 514, 231 P.3d 259], *as modified (June 9, 2010)*, the Court implicitly noted that every "employer" is liable to an employee for failure to pay minimum wages due to an employee. Implicit in the court's analysis is the recognition that section 1194 permits an employee with multiple employers to seek recovery of unpaid wages from any of them. The Court concluded that such liability attaches as the result of section 1194, which imposes a duty on every employer to ensure its employees receive minimum wage and overtime compensation. There is simply nothing "derivative" about a joint employer's liability for its labor code violations that is "dependent" on a finding of liability of another alleged "employer." Instead, each employer is jointly and severally liable as an "employer."

The Court in *Martinez* also held that merely because a produce merchant had a contractual relationship with the actual employer, such relationship did not make the merchant an "employer" of the workers. Rather, the merchant had to exercise sufficient control over the wages, hours, or working conditions of the workers to be considered their "employer" of the employees, and in that case, the merchant did not. (*Id.*, 49 Cal.4th at 71-74.)

Moreover, the existence of the contractual relationship between EMC and FlexCare did not impose "derivative" liability on EMC for FlexCare's wrongful acts. Indeed, EMC, merely because of its contractual relationship with FlexCare, would not be liable for FlexCare's violations of its obligations to Grande as Grande's employer.

Neither EMC nor FlexCare even attempt to explain how EMC's liability as an "employer" is "solely derivative" of FlexCare's liability as an

employer. Indeed, the law is clear that each "joint employer's" liability is joint and several. "Separate persons or entities that share control over an individual worker may be deemed joint employers under the FLSA." (*Schultz v. Capital Intern. Sec., Inc.* (4th Cir. 2006) 466 F.3d 298, 305; *Falk v. Brennan* (1973) 414 U.S. 190, 195 [94 S.Ct. 427, 431, 38 L.Ed.2d 406] (observing in a FLSA case that apartment building maintenance workers were employed by both building management company and building owners).) "[A]ll joint employers are responsible, both individually and jointly, for compliance with all of the applicable provisions of the [FLSA], including the overtime provisions." (29 C.F.R. § 791.2(a)).

B. The *Castillo* Court's conclusion that privity "deals with a person's relationship to the subject matter of the litigation" is directly contrary to *DKN Holdings*.

In *Castillo*, the Court concluded: "Put another way, privity, ' "as used in the context of res judicata or collateral estoppel, does not embrace relationships between persons or entities, but rather it deals with a person's relationship *to the subject matter of the litigation*." ' "(*Castillo, supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 277.)

This aberrational holding cannot be reconciled with this Court's holding in *DKN Holdings*, however. In *DKN Holdings*, the "subject matter of litigation" was one lease and the breach of the parties' obligations such lease. Thus, were the *Castillo* Court's newly created res judicata "test" applied by this Court in *DKN Holdings*, this Court would have necessarily found "privity" between the defendants. It did not, however, and in fact expressly held that there was no privity because the defendants were jointly and severally liable for the obligations sued upon.

Moreover, in any case involving claims against multiple parties that involve allegations of joint and several liability, the "subject matter of the litigation" is always the same, *e.g.*, the same contractual obligation (as in

DKN Holdings), the same tort, the same violation by an employer and joint employer of the plaintiff's rights under the Labor Code.

The *Castillo* Court's privity test is also directly contrary to that enunciated by this Court in *Bernhard v. Bank of America Nat. Trust & Savings Ass'n* (1942) 19 Cal.2d 807, 811 [122 P.2d 892, 894], in which the Court held:

Under the requirement of privity, only parties to the former judgment or their privies may take advantage of or be bound by it. Ibid. A party in this connection is one who is 'directly interested in the subject matter, and had a right to make defense, or to control the proceeding, and to appeal from the judgment.' 1 Greenleaf, Evidence, 15th Ed., sec. 523. See cases cited in 2 Black, Judgments, 2d Ed., sec. 534; 15 R.C.L. 1009; 9 Va.L.Reg.(N.S.) 241, 242; 15 Cal.Jur. 190; 34 C.J. 992. A privy is one who, after rendition of the judgment, has acquired an interest in the subject matter affected by the judgment through or under one of the parties, as by inheritance, succession, or purchase. See cases cited in 2 Black, Judgments, 2d Ed., sec. 549; 35 Yale L.J. 607, 608; 34 C.J. 973, 1010, 1012; 15 R.C.L. 1016. The estoppel is mutual if the one taking advantage of the earlier adjudication would have been bound by it, had it gone against him.

The Court stated that the concept of privity was dependent on the concept of "derivative liability":

The courts of most jurisdictions have in effect accomplished the same result by recognizing a broad exception to the requirements of mutuality and privity, namely, that they are not necessary where the liability of the defendant asserting the plea of res judicata is dependent upon or derived from the liability of one who was exonerated in an earlier suit brought by the same plaintiff upon the same facts. See cases cited in 35 Yale L.J. 607, 610; 9 Va.L.Reg.(N.S.) 241, 245–247; 29 Ill.L.Rev. 93, 94; 18 N.Y.U.L.Q.R. 565, 566, 567; 34 C.J. 988, 989. Typical examples of such derivative liability are master and servant, principal and agent, and indemnitor and indemnitee. (*Id.*, at 812.)

Here, Plaintiff's claims against EMC as an employer are not derivative of FlexCare's liability as an employer. Rather, both FlexCare and EMC are

jointly and severally liable for their violations of their independent legal obligations. Thus, Plaintiff's claims against EMC are not barred by the Judgment in the Santa Barbara Action.

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